
 

 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

TOWN OF PAONIA 
THURSDAY, MARCH 25, 2021 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING AGENDA 

5:00 PM 

 

 

APPROPRIATE FACE COVERINGS ARE REQUIRED AT ALL TIMES WHILE IN TOWN HALL. 
 

 

Roll Call 

Approval of Agenda 

New Business 

1. Regular Minutes: June 22, 2020 

2. Riverbank Neighborhood Major Subdivision Review Hearing 

 Old World LLC - Submittal Overview Letter 

 Old World LLC - Submittal Overview Letter - With Administrator Comments 

 Town Attorney Letter Regarding Engineer Review 

 Initial Independent Engineering Plan Review 

 Applicants Engineer Plan Review Including Modifications and Responses 

 Community Member Input Letter 

 Application Item 1 - Geotechnical Report - Soils Report 

 Application Items 2 Through 7 

 Application Items 8 Through 14 

Adjournment 

 

 

1



 

March 23, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 

Regular Minutes: June 22, 2020 

Summary:   
Approval of regular minutes. 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Vote: Barb Heck: Karen Budinger: Monica Foguth:  

Lucy Hunter: Mary Bachran:  

 

 

 

 
 

 

2

1.



 

  

JUNE 22, 2020 PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES 1 

 

Minutes 

Planning Commission Meeting 

Town of Paonia, Colorado 

June 22, 2020 

  

 

RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

 

Roll Call 
1. Commission members present were as follows: 

Chairperson Barb Heck 

Commissioner Lucy Hunter 

Commissioner Monica Foguth 

Mayor Mary Bachran 

Trustee Karen Budinger 

 

Town staff present were as follows: 

 

Town Administrator/Town Clerk Corinne Ferguson 

Assistant to the Town Administrator Evan Bolt 

Deputy Clerk Amanda Mojarro 

 

A quorum was present, and Chairperson Heck proceeded with the meeting. 

Approval of Agenda 

 

Motion to approve agenda as presented by Commissioner Hunter seconded by Mayor Bachran. 

Motion carried unanimously. 

Unfinished Business 

 

Minutes: February 27, 2020: 

 

Motion to approve minutes as presented by Commissioner Hunter Seconded by 

Chairperson Heck. Motion failed due to lack of votes.  

 

Mayor Bachran & Trustee Budinger Abstained from voting. 

 

Minutes were tabled until the next meeting. 

New Business. 

Appointment of Chair: 

 

3

1.



 

  

JUNE 22, 2020 PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES 2 

 

Appointment of chair was tabled until next meeting.  

 

Spiegel Fence Variance: 

Fence variance documents were included in the packet.  

Motion to recommend that the Board of Trustee approve Deborah Spiegel’s fence 

variance by Commissioner Hunter second by Trustee Budinger. Motion carried una. 

 

6. Paonia Master Plan Update 

Evan Bolt updated the planning commission members regarding some of the master 

plan’s goals and objectives. 

 

Discussion points: 

 Time frame of the assett inventory - preliminary reports will be reviewed in the 

fall. 

 Land use - a public input meeting was held in early spring regarding the land use 

survey. 

 Annexation - Town of Paonia has a (3) three-mile radius to annex. 

 Master plan time frame draft documents available in July. 

 

 

Adjournment 
Adjournment: 

Chairperson Heck adjourned the meeting at 5:43 pm 

 

 

 

_______________________________  ______________________________ 

Amanda Mojarro, Deputy Clerk                        Barb Heck, Chairperson 

4

1.



 

March 24, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 

Riverbank Neighborhood Major Subdivision Review Hearing 

Summary:   
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Vote: Barb Heck: Karen Budinger: Monica Foguth:  

Lucy Hunter: Mary Bachran:  

 

 

 

 
 

 

5

2.



6

2.



7

2.



8

2.



9

2.



10

2.



11

2.



12

2.



13

2.



14

2.



15

2.



16

2.



17

2.



18

2.



19

2.



20

2.



R i v e r b a n k       N e i g h b o r h o o d

                                                                       Y O U R  S P O T  I N  T H E  S U N

Town of  Paonia

Planning & Zoning Commiss ion

Grand  Avenue,  Paonia ,  CO

March 9 t h ,  2021

Members  of  the  P lanning & Zoning Commiss ion :

We proudly  submi t  the  Riverbank  proposal  for  a  low dens i ty  res ident ia l  

ne ighborhood.  This  proposal  i s  cons is tent  wi th  our  work-sess ion  of  June  

4 t h ,  2020.

main points

The main  poin ts  are

»  15  res ident ia l  lo ts ,  zoned R2,  each  roughly 1  acre ,

»  1  open space  lo t ,  approximate ly  2  acre ,

»  an  "evergreen  buffer"  be tween  neighbors  and  Riverbank,

»  a  newly  cons t ructed  At lant ic  Avenue,

»  i r r iga t ion  water  f rom Feldman  and Farmers  d i tches ,

»  easements  for  t ra i l s .

page 1 of 5

21

3.



benefits

The  Riverbank  of fers  impor tan t  benef i t s  to  i t s  prospect ive  home-owners  

and  the  larger  town.  

The  Riverbank  s lopes  to  the  South ,  ideal  for  so lar  homes .  Views  of  

Lamborn  and Landsend  are  a lso  South .  And,  . . .  a r iver  runs  through i t .  

The  proximi ty  to  down- town a l lows  for  walking  or  b ik ing  as  an  a l ternat ive  

to  the  car .  The Riverbank  wi l l  add v i ta l i ty  to  Grand Avenue and  enhance  

tax- income for  the  town.  The Riverbank  eas i ly  t ies  in to  in- town water  and 

sewer ,  whi le  possess ing  ample  i r r iga t ion  water  for  outdoor  use .  

F inal ly,  the  Riverbank  extends  the  t ra i l  sys tem around  the  Nor th  Fork .

variances

For  the  Riverbank  Neighborhood appl ica t ion ,  we reques t  the  fo l lowing  

var iances :

»  reduced  ROW width  (17-4-50) , ,

»  change  in  typica l  road  sec t ion  (17-4-50,  17-4-40 ( l )  & 17-4-40 (g) ) .

The pre l iminary  approval  of  2010 granted  a  var iance  for  reduced  road-

width .  One reason is  tha t  reduced  road-width  resul ts  in  s lower  t raf f ic ,  and 

benef i t s  publ ic  safe ty.  

The Riverbank  Neighborhood has  a  reduced dens i ty  of  15  lo ts .  Previous  

proposals  were  for  some 50 lo ts ;  inc luding  the  above pre l iminary  approval .

page 2 of 5

22

3.



The dens i ty  has  been reduced  to  make  the  appl ica t ion  more  pala table  to  the

town.  Consequent ly,  the  revenue  f rom lo t  sa les  has  been  subs tant ia l ly  

reduced.  Our  inves tments  in  inf ras t ructure  must  s imi lar ly  be  reduced,  in  

order  to  keep  lo ts  af fordable .  S t r ic t  appl ica t ion  of  the  des ign  s tandards  

would  therefore  resul t  in  unnecessary  hardship .

The Riverbank  proper ty  i s  in tended  have  a  more  rura l  charac ter  than  

Paonia ' s  down- town.  At lant ic  Avenue  wi l l  be  a  dead-end s t ree t ,  serv ic ing  a

mere  f i f teen  lo ts .  I t  ex tends  f rom Pr ice  Road,  a  county  road wi thout  curbs ,  

gut ters  or  s idewalks .  As  Pr ice  Road  s i t s  in  an  easement  ( ra ther  than  a  

r ight -of -way)  i t  i s  hard  to  see  how curbs ,  gut ters  and/or  s idewalks  could  be

added.

The Riverbank  won' t  t ie  in to  the  Town s tormwater  sys tem,  so  the  gut ters  

are  not  needed to  d i rec t  water  in to  s torm sewer  in le ts .  For  most  of  the  

length  of  the  road,  adjacent  grades  do  not  dra in  toward  the  s t ree t ,  so  we 

would  only  be  captur ing  runoff  f rom the  pavement  and areas  immedia te ly  

adjacent  to  i t .  

There  i s  noth ing wrong wi th  a  road wi thout  curbs  and  gut ters .  C-DOT 

cons t ruct  h ighways  in  th is  manner .  The  same goes  for  county  roads .  I t  

appears  tha t  only in  a  medium to  h igh-dens i ty  environment ,  do  the  benef i t s

of  curbs  & gut ters  outweigh i t s  cos ts .  Down-town Paonia  i s  such a  

medium-dens i ty  environment ;  wi th  four  to  s ix  lo ts  per  acre .  The  Riverbank  

dens i ty  i s  less  than  one  lo t  per  acre .

Therefore ,  curbs  & gut ters  and fu l l  road-width  are  unnecessary  and even  

adverse  to  the  in tended  character  of  the  Riverbank  Neighborhood.  

page 3 of 5

23

3.



plan B

In  case  the  town does  not  grant  a  var iance  for  curb  & gut ter ,  we propose  a  

p lan  B:

• to  add one  res ident ia l  lo t ,

• cons t ruct ion  of  curbs  & gut ters  be  defer red  unt i l  50% of  the  lo ts  are  

so ld .

page 4 of 5

24

3.



The ext ra  lo t  could  be  a  mere  9916 f t ² ,  s i tua ted  wi th in  the  1 .87  acre  open  

space .

The town 's  engineer  has  es t imated  tha t  jus t  curbs  & gut ters  would  cos t  

$125,000.  Exper ience  demonstra tes  tha t  the  ac tual  cos ts  a lways  exceed  the  

es t imate .  With  an  ext ra  res ident ia l - lo t  and defer red  cons t ruct ion ,  the  

developer  i s  par t ly  compensated  for  these  expenses .  

Yours  S incere ly,

Old  World  LLC,

Ivo Renkema

page 5 of 5

25

3.



R i v e r b a n k       N e i g h b o r h o o d

                                                                       Y O U R  S P O T  I N  T H E  S U N

Town of  Paonia

Planning & Zoning Commiss ion

Grand  Avenue,  Paonia ,  CO

March 9 t h ,  2021

Members  of  the  P lanning & Zoning Commiss ion :

We proudly  submi t  the  Riverbank  proposal  for  a  low dens i ty  res ident ia l  

ne ighborhood.  This  proposal  i s  cons is tent  wi th  our  work-sess ion  of  June  

4 t h ,  2020.

main points

The main  poin ts  are

»  15  res ident ia l  lo ts ,  zoned R2,  each  roughly 1  acre ,

»  1  open space  lo t ,  approximate ly  2  acre ,

»  an  "evergreen  buffer"  be tween  neighbors  and  Riverbank,

»  a  newly  cons t ructed  At lant ic  Avenue,

»  i r r iga t ion  water  f rom Feldman  and Farmers  d i tches ,

»  easements  for  t ra i l s .

page 1 of 5

26

4.



Summary of Comments on Town of Paonia
This page contains no comments

27

4.



benefits

The  Riverbank  of fers  impor tan t  benef i t s  to  i t s  prospect ive  home-owners  

and  the  larger  town.  

The  Riverbank  s lopes  to  the  South ,  ideal  for  so lar  homes .  Views  of  

Lamborn  and Landsend  are  a lso  South .  And,  . . .  a r iver  runs  through i t .  

The  proximi ty  to  down- town a l lows  for  walking  or  b ik ing  as  an  a l ternat ive  

to  the  car .  The Riverbank  wi l l  add v i ta l i ty  to  Grand Avenue and  enhance  

tax- income for  the  town.  The Riverbank  eas i ly  t ies  in to  in- town water  and 

sewer ,  whi le  possess ing  ample  i r r iga t ion  water  for  outdoor  use .  

F inal ly,  the  Riverbank  extends  the  t ra i l  sys tem around  the  Nor th  Fork .

variances

For  the  Riverbank  Neighborhood appl ica t ion ,  we reques t  the  fo l lowing  

var iances :

»  reduced  ROW width  (17-4-50) , ,

»  change  in  typica l  road  sec t ion  (17-4-50,  17-4-40 ( l )  & 17-4-40 (g) ) .

The pre l iminary  approval  of  2010 granted  a  var iance  for  reduced  road-

width .  One reason is  tha t  reduced  road-width  resul ts  in  s lower  t raf f ic ,  and 

benef i t s  publ ic  safe ty.  

The Riverbank  Neighborhood has  a  reduced dens i ty  of  15  lo ts .  Previous  

proposals  were  for  some 50 lo ts ;  inc luding  the  above pre l iminary  approval .

page 2 of 5

1

28

4.



Page: 2
Number: 1 Author: TownClerk Subject: Sticky Note Date: 3/22/2021 1:53:21 PM 
The original application and any preliminary approvals were formally withdrawn by Old World LLC in 2014.  This no longer applies.
 

29

4.



The dens i ty  has  been reduced  to  make  the  appl ica t ion  more  pala table  to  the

town.  Consequent ly,  the  revenue  f rom lo t  sa les  has  been  subs tant ia l ly  

reduced.  Our  inves tments  in  inf ras t ructure  must  s imi lar ly  be  reduced,  in  

order  to  keep  lo ts  af fordable .  S t r ic t  appl ica t ion  of  the  des ign  s tandards  

would  therefore  resul t  in  unnecessary  hardship .

The Riverbank  proper ty  i s  in tended  have  a  more  rura l  charac ter  than  

Paonia ' s  down- town.  At lant ic  Avenue  wi l l  be  a  dead-end s t ree t ,  serv ic ing  a

mere  f i f teen  lo ts .  I t  ex tends  f rom Pr ice  Road,  a  county  road wi thout  curbs ,  

gut ters  or  s idewalks .  As  Pr ice  Road  s i t s  in  an  easement  ( ra ther  than  a  

r ight -of -way)  i t  i s  hard  to  see  how curbs ,  gut ters  and/or  s idewalks  could  be

added.

The Riverbank  won' t  t ie  in to  the  Town s tormwater  sys tem,  so  the  gut ters  

are  not  needed to  d i rec t  water  in to  s torm sewer  in le ts .  For  most  of  the  

length  of  the  road,  adjacent  grades  do  not  dra in  toward  the  s t ree t ,  so  we 

would  only  be  captur ing  runoff  f rom the  pavement  and areas  immedia te ly  

adjacent  to  i t .  

There  i s  noth ing wrong wi th  a  road wi thout  curbs  and  gut ters .  C-DOT 

cons t ruct  h ighways  in  th is  manner .  The  same goes  for  county  roads .  I t  

appears  tha t  only in  a  medium to  h igh-dens i ty  environment ,  do  the  benef i t s

of  curbs  & gut ters  outweigh i t s  cos ts .  Down-town Paonia  i s  such a  

medium-dens i ty  environment ;  wi th  four  to  s ix  lo ts  per  acre .  The  Riverbank  

dens i ty  i s  less  than  one  lo t  per  acre .

Therefore ,  curbs  & gut ters  and fu l l  road-width  are  unnecessary  and even  

adverse  to  the  in tended  character  of  the  Riverbank  Neighborhood.  

page 3 of 5

1

2

3

30

4.



 
Page: 3

Number: 1 Author: TownClerk Subject: Sticky Note Date: 3/22/2021 1:36:08 PM 
As confirmed by independent engineering review, prescriptive easements for roads must still adhere to all applicable road regulations.  
Should the Town annex Price Road, Town regulations for sidewalks, curb, and gutter would still apply, and feasibility would need to be 
evaluated.
 
Number: 2 Author: TownClerk Subject: Sticky Note Date: 3/22/2021 1:40:13 PM 
There are several reasons other than the municipal code requirement for sidewalk curb and gutter.  Curbs and gutters serve a multitude of
functions, including collecting water from crowned pavements and conveying to points of collection, reducing the amount of water that 
seeps under pavement causing road issues and instability, protects against erosion of the roadside shoulders, outlines the edges of 
pavement, provides defined boarders between traveled and untraveled surfaces and are known to effectively slow speed traffic within the 
edges of pavements.
 
Number: 3 Author: TownClerk Subject: Sticky Note Date: 3/22/2021 1:43:37 PM 
Riverbank is zoned R-2 which is medium density.  While the current arrangement is approximately 1 to 1.5 acre lots, the Town has to 
prepare beyond the initial developers plan and include in decision-making the necessary requirements and improvements for the future 
development of the properties, which could include multiple single family homes and duplexes by right.
 

31

4.



plan B

In  case  the  town does  not  grant  a  var iance  for  curb  & gut ter ,  we propose  a  

p lan  B:

• to  add one  res ident ia l  lo t ,

• cons t ruct ion  of  curbs  & gut ters  be  defer red  unt i l  50% of  the  lo ts  are  

so ld .

page 4 of 5

32

4.



This page contains no comments

33

4.



The ext ra  lo t  could  be  a  mere  9916 f t ² ,  s i tua ted  wi th in  the  1 .87  acre  open  

space .

The town 's  engineer  has  es t imated  tha t  jus t  curbs  & gut ters  would  cos t  

$125,000.  Exper ience  demonstra tes  tha t  the  ac tual  cos ts  a lways  exceed  the  

es t imate .  With  an  ext ra  res ident ia l - lo t  and defer red  cons t ruct ion ,  the  

developer  i s  par t ly  compensated  for  these  expenses .  

Yours  S incere ly,

Old  World  LLC,

Ivo Renkema

page 5 of 5

34

4.



This page contains no comments

35

4.



 

 

 P.O. Box 3310, 130 N. Park Avenue       Montrose, Colorado 81402               T: 970-249-7000               F: 970-249-8440 

 

DEVOR & PLUMHOFF, LLC                                                         Bo James Nerlin, Esq. 
Attorneys and Counselors at Law                        bo@coloradowestlaw.com 

 

         

 

 
 

November 25, 2020 
via email only 
 
Mr. Ivo Renkema 
Old World, LLC  
 
 Re:  Riverbank Neighborhood Subdivision – Town of Paonia 
  Subdivision Application  
 
Dear Mr. Renkema,  
 
 On behalf of staff of the Town of Paonia, a review of your Application for Subdivision -
Final Plan for the Riverbank Neighborhood Subdivision has been completed.  At this time, it is 
the conclusion of staff that all of the required materials for the application process have been 
appropriately submitted.   This is based on the provision of the following materials:  
  

1. Geotechnical – soils report  
2. Sketch Plan 
3. List of property owners within 200’  
4. Application 
5. Covenants for the Riverbank Neighborhood  
6. Referral letters from utility companies 
7. Engineering work from Odisea 
8. Preliminary Plan  
9. Subdivision Improvements Agreement  
10. Title Commitment and updated title commitment  
11. Storm-water drainage report 
12. Engineers Cost Estimate 
13. Traffic Impact Analysis  
14. Proof of Ownership 

 
In completing this review, the Town contracted with SGM Civil Engineering of 

Glenwood Springs Colorado to undertake a substantive review of the engineering work 
completed by Odiesa.  On November 16, 2020 SGM provided both staff and your team a 
preliminary review of the Riverbank Subdivision engineering.  Since the 16th, the Town has had 
an opportunity to evaluate this review and confer with SGM.  Based on this review and conferral, 

36

5.

mailto:bo@coloradowestlaw.com


Mr. Ivo Renkema 

enclosed with this letter is revised Engineering Review dated November 24, 2020 which 
incorporates comments from Town staff.   

 
While some of the comments included in the updated Engineering Review are relatively 

minor and simply require clean up or clarification, there are a number of substantive comments 
that we suggest you and your team further address.  Beginning on Page 4 of the report, please 
have Odiesa take a substantive review of comments 26 through 39.  Coupled with this, please 
address the dead-end of Atlantic Ave. (comment 41).  While it is recognized that the Atlantic 
Ave dead-end will be a request for a variance from the Town, please provide greater detail as to 
the need for this variance.  In requesting this variance, address the emergency turnarounds and 
provide assurance from the appropriate responding agencies that these turnarounds are 
acceptable (comments 43 – 45).   

 
In addition to the November 24, 2020 Engineering Review by SGM, staff is in the 

process of completing its staff report to the planning commission.   In preparing this staff report, 
we would like to provide you the opportunity to address the issues raised in the November 24 
SGM Engineering Review. With the revised SGM Engineering Review and the comments 
highlighted herein, we look forward to our virtual meeting on November 30th at 12:00 pm 
Mountain hopefully addressing the concerns provided.  
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
    Bo James Nerlin 
 
Cc: Ms. J. Corinne Ferguson  
 Mr. Travis Loberg 
 Mr. Brandyn Bair, PE 

37

5.



I:\2013\2013-471  Town of Paonia\009-RiverbankSub\A-Corresp\L 20201124 UPDATEDRiverbankSubdivisionEngReview.doc 

 
 
 
 
November 16, 2020  (UPDATED 11/24/2020) 
 
 
Corinne Ferguson 
Town Manager 
Town of Paonia 
214 Grand Avenue 
Paonia, CO 81428 
 
 
RE:   Engineering Review Comments 
 Riverbank Neighborhood Subdivision 
 
 
Dear Corinne, 
 
At your request, SGM has completed a review of the aforementioned project.  In order to conduct this 
review, we downloaded the materials from the website which included the following: 
 

A. Geotechnical Report 
B. Sketch Plan 
C. Property Owners with 200’ 
D. Application Form 
E. Covenants 
F. Referral Letters 
G. Engineering Drawings by Odisea.  The drawing set comprised of a total of 14 sheets dated August 

14, 2020 as prepared by Odisea, LLC.  The following sheets were included in the set: 
 

a. C0.0 - Title Sheet 
b. C0.1 - Civil Notes 
c. C0.2 - Civil Notes 
d. C1.0 - Existing Site Plan 
e. C2.0 - Proposed Site Plan 
f. C3.0 - Grading & Drainage 
g. C4.0 - Atlantic Avenue Plan & Profile 
h. C5.0 - Sanitary Sewer Plan & Profile 
i. C6.0 - Water Distribution Plan 
j. C7.0 - Utility Plan 
k. C8.0 - Civil Details 
l. C8.1 - Civil Details 
m. C8.2 - Civil Details 
n. C8.3 - Civil Details 

 

w w w. s g m - i n c . c o m

GLENWOOD SPRINGS 118 West Sixth St, Suite 200 | Glenwood Springs, CO 81601 | 970.945.100438

6.



I:\2013\2013-471  Town of Paonia\009-RiverbankSub\A-Corresp\L 20201124 UPDATEDRiverbankSubdivisionEngReview.doc 

H. Preliminary Plan 
I. Subdivision Improvements Agreement 
J. Title Commitment 
K. Final Plat 
L. Storm Water Drainage Report by Odisea 
M. Engineer’s Cost Estimate by Odisea 
N. Traffic Impact Analysis 
O. Proof of Ownership 

 
Please note SGM focused its review on the engineering drawings, as the other documents met the intent 
of the subdivision submittal requirements.  Please note the following comments and concerns, which are 
in no particular order. 
 

1. On sheet C0.1, note 21 states 4 foot of cover over waterlines.  Town of Paonia’s minimum cover 
over waterlines is 5 feet. 
 

2. On sheet C0.1, note 24 should include requirements regarding the SUE (Subsurface Utility 
Engineering) requirements for Colorado per Senate Bill 18-167.  This project involves excavation 
over 2 foot deep and more than 1,000 contiguous square feet.  Quality levels (A-D) need to be 
accurately described. 

 
3. On sheet C0.1, text size for the Erosion Control Notes appear to be smaller for the rest of the 

notes. 
 

4. On sheet C0.1, note #2 under Water System Notes need to be changed to reflect 5 feet of cover 
over the top of the waterline. 
 

5. On sheet C0.1, notes 1.3 and 3.2 under Water System Appurtenances are very similar, consider 
deleting note 1.3. 
 

6. On sheet C0.1, delete section 5 under Water System Appurtenances referencing butterfly valves.  
SGM didn’t find any references/use of butterfly valves in the project documents. 
 

7. On sheet C0.1, section 6 under Water System Appurtenances could be deleted, as they’re not 
relevant to the project. 
 

8. On sheet C0.1, section 7 under Water System Appurtenances could be deleted, as they’re not 
relevant to the project. 
 

9. On sheet C0.1, note 8.1 under Water System Appurtenances, need to be revised to include the 
right entity, Town of Paonia, not ACWWA, and the appropriate standard drawing references. 
 

10. On sheet C0.1, section 9 under Water System Appurtenances, need to be revised to include the 
right entity, Town of Paonia, not ACWWA, and the appropriate standard drawing references. 
 

11. On sheet C0.1, note 10.1 under Water System Appurtenances, need to be revised to include the 
right entity, Town of Paonia, not ACWWA, and the appropriate standard drawing references. 

w w w. s g m - i n c . c o m

39

6.



I:\2013\2013-471  Town of Paonia\009-RiverbankSub\A-Corresp\L 20201124 UPDATEDRiverbankSubdivisionEngReview.doc 

12. On sheet C0.1, note 11.1.2, shall be changed to read “compressive strength of 3,000 psi”.  This 
change will match what is called out in the details. 
 

13. On sheet C0.1, HDPE (High Density Polyethylene) Pipe and Fittings section.  Town of Paonia 
code requires C900 PVC for waterlines and SDR 35 PVC for gravity sewer lines.  The Town will 
allow HDPE for the waterline, however the HDPE must be DIPS sizing to allow the use of ductile 
iron pipe fittings for future maintenance/repair. 
 

14. On sheet C0.1, notes 2A.02.D and 2B.02.D, references electrofusion saddle/services taps.  
Electrofusion saddle/service tap will not be accepted. Town of Paonia requires the use of 
traditional double strap tapping saddles as specified in the current Town of Paonia specifications 
within the Municipal Code. 
 

15. On sheet C0.1, notes 2A.03.C and 2B.03.C.  Details provided in the drawings make no reference 
to tracer wire.  Tracer wire is required on all new pipes per SUE regulations.  Town requires tracer 
wire to be No. 12 gauge solid copper. 
 

16. On sheet C0.2, consider deleting note 3 under the Sanitary Sewer Material Specification for Pipe 
and Fittings as the proposed sewer line is only 8-inch diameter. 
 

17. On sheet C0.2, consider deleting note 4 under the Sanitary Sewer Material Specification for Pipe 
and Fittings as there are not pressure sewer lines proposed for the project. 
 

18. On sheet C0.2, note 2 under Sanitary Sewer Installation Specifications, references to subsections 
9-3-5 and 9-3-6 need to be updated and/or deleted. 
 

19. On sheet C0.2, note 4 under Removals, Excavation, Backfilling and Restoration Specifications, 
reference to subsection 9-4-3 needs to be updated and/or deleted. 
 

20. On sheet C0.2, note 13 under Removals, Excavation, Backfilling and Restoration Specifications, 
reference to subsection 9-6 needs to be updated and/or deleted. 
 

21. On sheet C0.2, note 15.1 under Removals, Excavation, Backfilling and Restoration Specifications, 
reference to subsection 9-5-10 needs to be updated and/or deleted. 
 

22. On sheet C0.2, suggest changing note 15.3.1 to every 100 linear feet of trench instead of every 
400 linear feet.  This will ensure the entire trench section will get tested versus large sections of 
the trench going untested using the 400 foot interval. 
 

23. On sheet C0.2, delete note 15.3.2.  Quality assurance testing is in the Town best interests.  If 
testing is not complete the Town could accept a substandard product. 
 

24. On sheet C0.2, note 15.3.3 under Removals, Excavation, Backfilling and Restoration 
Specifications, reference to subsection 9-3-7 needs to be updated and/or deleted. 
 

25. On sheet C0.2, note 16 under Removals, Excavation, Backfilling and Restoration Specifications, 
reference to subsection 9-2-5 needs to be updated and/or deleted. 

w w w. s g m - i n c . c o m

40

6.



I:\2013\2013-471  Town of Paonia\009-RiverbankSub\A-Corresp\L 20201124 UPDATEDRiverbankSubdivisionEngReview.doc 

 
26. On sheet C0.2, note 4 under Final Inspection and Acceptance, change reference of Montrose 

Submittal Standards to Town of Paonia. 
 

27. General comment regarding notes and specific materials/manufacturers.  Plans need to 
reflect/match the Town approved specifications.  Refer to Appendix D, Standard Construction 
Specifications. 
 

28. On sheet C2.0, lots 1 and 4 within the 100 flood zone designation AE.  Notes should be provided 
on the plans as necessary documenting the construction needs to be 1 foot above base flood 
elevations. 
 

29. On sheet C2.0, 10’ drainage easement on the western edge of Lot 1 appears small in width for 
future maintenance.  Unclear in the plans if there is a drainage ditch within this easement.  Also 
unclear if the easement should include maintenance/access descriptions.  Same situation applies 
between lots 5/6 and 13/15. 
 

30. On sheet C2.0, 10’ utility easement doesn’t seem large enough in width for future maintenance of 
waterline. 
 

31. On sheet C3.0, plan and profiles should be provided for all culverts. 
 

32. Riprap recommended and inlet/outlet of all culverts to help with erosion/sediment control.  Details 
shall be provided 
 

33. On sheet C3.0, depth of road side ditches are undefined.  It appears ditch could have negative 
impact on shallow utilities and current waterline location.  Ditch appears to be approximately 5 foot 
deep, but hard to tell with no finished contour labels or profiles of culverts. 
 

34. No construction details are provided for the detention basins. 
 

35. Do drainage easements around detention basins need to also be access easements for future 
maintenance? 
 

36. It appears from the current design all driveways will require culverts.  These culverts would all be 
within the Town’s right of way.  Covenants need to reflect that the homeowner is responsible for 
installing and maintaining driveway culverts.   
 

37. Who is maintaining ditches throughout the subdivision?  Covenants need to reflect the 
subdivision/HOA is responsible for maintaining the ditches within the subdividion. 
 

38. On sheet C4.0, what happens to the drainage at low point of road at station 2+72.45?  Currently, 
drainage will sheet flow off the road at this location with consideration to erosion control. 
 

39. No details provided for connecting Atlantic Avenue to Price Road.  SGM assumes that sawcutting 
of at least 1 foot into Price Road for connection.  Drawings should include spot elevations, 
stationing, curve data, etc. 

w w w. s g m - i n c . c o m

41

6.



I:\2013\2013-471  Town of Paonia\009-RiverbankSub\A-Corresp\L 20201124 UPDATEDRiverbankSubdivisionEngReview.doc 

 
40. SGM recommends curbs, gutter, and sidewalks per Municipal Code section 17-4-40 (l). 

 
41. It appears Atlantic Avenue is a dead end street.  Municipal Code Section 17-4-40 (g) requires no 

more than 500 feet from connecting street (Price Road). 
 

42. SGM recommends cul-de-sac at the end of Atlantic Avenue versus emergency turnaround per 
Municipal Code Section 17-4-40 (g). 
 

43. If emergency turnarounds are utilized, Developer shall provide information from Fire Department 
and other emergency services that emergency turnaround are of acceptable size. 
 

44. No details for provided for construction of emergency turnarounds. 
 

45. Appears potential driveway for Lot 16 would be obstructed by emergency turnaround. 
 

46. Road grade shown on profile between station 14+10.11 and station 15+41.52 is 0.39%. Minimum 
per Municipal Code section 17-4-40 (h) is 0.5%. 
 

47. On all sheets, but noted here on sheet C2.0, existing waterline and existing manhole at station 
2+31 appear to be in conflict.  Developer should verify location of existing utilities prior to tying in 
new infrastructure. 
 

48. On sheet C5.0, it is recommended that sanitary sewer should be installed on one side of Atlantic 
Avenue and potable water should be installed on the other side with a minimum of 10 foot 
horizontal separation.  This recommendation will result in additional manholes to navigate the 
curves in the road. 
 

49. Water service note in profile of sanitary sewer at station 2+50 is misleading about 5 foot minimum 
cover as the current details in proposed plan show 4 foot of cover over proposed waterline. 
 

50. Details need to be provided for connecting to existing manhole at station 2+30. 
 

51. Discrepancy between general sewer notes on sheet C0.2 and pipe callouts in profile on sheet 
C5.0.  Sheet C0.2 calls out pipe to conform to ASTM 3034, SDR35.  Sheet C5.0 calls out SDR 26 
HDPE.  Town code requires sanitary sewer pipe be 8-inch SDR 35. 
 

52. On sheet C6.0, waterline needs be installed with the pavement section of Atlantic Avenue.  
Waterline should not be installed outside of the pavement and underneath underground telephone 
and fiber optic lines.   
 

53. SGM recommends provided a profile of the waterline to be able to identify any potential piping 
conflicts with other utilities. 
 

54. Details need to be provided for connecting to existing waterline near station 0+00 of waterline.  
Why is the waterline stationing different than the road/sanitary sewer stationing? 
 

w w w. s g m - i n c . c o m

42

6.



I:\2013\2013-471  Town of Paonia\009-RiverbankSub\A-Corresp\L 20201124 UPDATEDRiverbankSubdivisionEngReview.doc 

55. Town of Paonia prefers installing additional hydrant at the end of Atlantic Avenue in lieu of current 
proposed blow-off.  Blow off detail can be deleted.  This additional hydrant will also help with 
unidirectional flushing of the waterlines. 
 

56. Sheet C6.0 doesn’t show any utilities besides the waterline.  As shown it would appear there are 
no conflicts with the waterline, however previous comments indicate waterline should be installed 
underneath telephone and fiber optic lines. 
 

57. On sheet C7.0, telephone pedestals, electric transformers, etc are not shown.  Conflicts are not 
known at this time.  Locations should be provided and coordinated with other utilities in final 
drawings. 
 

58. On sheet C7.0, there appears to be a conflict between the water and sewer services for Lot 4 
within the easement.  Sewer service shall include cleanout at all bends. 
 

59. Detail 2/C8.0 needs to reflect the 5 foot cover for waterlines. 
 

60. Details 1&2/C8.0, similar to previous comments, it appears roadside ditches could negatively 
impact road platform and other utilities. 
 

61. Detail 3/C8.0 needs to reflect the 5 foot cover for waterlines. 
 

62. Detail 5/C8.0 needs to reflect the 5 foot cover for waterlines.  Restraining glands are not 
acceptable, megalugs are required.  Note 1 needs to reflect the Town’s approved manufacturer for 
the fire hydrant, refer to Appendix D Standard Construction Specifications of the Municipal Code.  
Note 2 shall change to pipe to PVC.  Note 4, bolts to be suitable for MJ fittings.  Bolts shall be Cor-
Ten or stainless steel.  Hot dipped galvanized bolts are not acceptable.  Note 4 and 6, reference to 
rods should be deleted.  MJ fittings with thrust blocks should be adequate. 
 

63. Consider deleting detail 6/C8.0, two fire hydrant details are not needed. 
 

64. Detail 1/C8.1.  Why is this detail provided?  There is no reference/indication in the drawings where 
tap sleeve is being utilized.  If not using detail should be deleted. 
 

65. Detail 4/C8.1 needs reflect the 5 foot cover for waterlines and services.  End of water service stub 
out should be marked with a blue painted 2x4 per the Municipal Code.  Meter shall be Badger 
Meter Recordall Disc Meter with Recordall Transmitter Register and Orion Water Endpoint for 
mobile meter reading. 
 

66. All details with equipment callouts should be cross referenced with Appendix D Standard 
Construction Specifications of the Municipal Code.  There are many instances that need to 
updated. 
 

67. On detail 1/C8.3, end of sewer service stub out should be mark with a green painted 2x4 per the 
Municipal Code. 
 

w w w. s g m - i n c . c o m

43

6.



I:\2013\2013-471  Town of Paonia\009-RiverbankSub\A-Corresp\L 20201124 UPDATEDRiverbankSubdivisionEngReview.doc 

68. Detail 2/C8.3 should be deleted as all sewer services proposed for this project will be new, 
therefore requiring a full body wye per the Municipal Code. 
 

69. Additional notes/specifications shall be added to sheets C0.1 and/or C0.2 for pipeline acceptance 
testing for both sanitary sewer and waterlines.  Sanitary sewer lines shall be televised.  Sanitary 
sewer lines shall also be tested using a low-pressure air test.  Sanitary sewer manholes shall also 
be tested for leakage.  Waterlines shall be hydrostatically tested and disinfected.  Refer to 
Appendix D Standard Construction Specifications of the Municipal Code for specific requirements.   
 

 
Upon your receipt and review, if you have any questions, please don’t hesitate to call. 
 
 
Respectfully,  
SGM 
 
 
 
Brandyn Bair, P.E. 
Project Engineer 
 
cc: Travis Loberg, Public Works Director, Town of Paonia 
 Bo Nerlin, Town Attorney 
 
 

w w w. s g m - i n c . c o m

44

6.



 

   
 

 

1 
 

January 12, 2021 
 
Corinne Ferguson 
Town Manager 
Town of Paonia 
214 Grand Avenue 
Paonia, CO 81428 
 
Re:   Reply to SGM Engineering Review Comments for Riverbank Neighborhood Subdivision 
  
Ms. Corinne Ferguson: 
 
Thank for providing review comments  
 
 
 

1. On sheet C0.1, note 21 states 4 foot of cover over waterlines. Town of Paonia’s minimum cover  
over waterlines is 5 feet.  
 
ODISEA RESPONSE: NOTE STATES 5 FEET INSTEAD OF 4.  

 
2. On sheet C0.1, note 24 should include requirements regarding the SUE (Subsurface Utility 

Engineering) requirements for Colorado per Senate Bill 18-167.  This project involves excavation 
over 2 foot deep and more than 1,000 contiguous square feet.  Quality levels (A-D) need to be 
accurately described.  
 
ODISEA RESPONSE: NOTE REFERENCES ASCE 38-02 AND QUALITY LEVEL 
DECRIPTIONS ADDED.    

 
3. On sheet C0.1, text size for the Erosion Control Notes appear to be smaller for the rest of the 

notes.  
 
ODISEA RESPONSE: UPDATED PER REVIEW COMMENT  

 
4. On sheet C0.1, note #2 under Water System Notes need to be changed to reflect 5 feet of cover 

over the top of the waterline.  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 
 
 
 

 

45

7.



 

   
 

 

2 
 

5. On sheet C0.1, notes 1.3 and 3.2 under Water System Appurtenances are very similar, consider 
deleting note 1.3.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 
 

6. On sheet C0.1, delete section 5 under Water System Appurtenances referencing butterfly valves. 
SGM didn’t find any references/use of butterfly valves in the project documents.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 

 
7. On sheet C0.1, section 6 under Water System Appurtenances could be deleted, as they’re not 

relevant to the project.  
 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 
 

8. On sheet C0.1, section 7 under Water System Appurtenances could be deleted, as they’re not 
relevant to the project.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 

 
9. On sheet C0.1, note 8.1 under Water System Appurtenances, need to be revised to include the 

right entity, Town of Paonia, not ACWWA, and the appropriate standard drawing references. 
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 
 

10. On sheet C0.1, section 9 under Water System Appurtenances, need to be revised to include the 
right entity, Town of Paonia, not ACWWA, and the appropriate standard drawing references.  
 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 

 
11. On sheet C0.1, note 10.1 under Water System Appurtenances, need to be revised to include the  

right entity, Town of Paonia, not ACWWA, and the appropriate standard drawing references. 
 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 
 
 

46

7.



 

   
 

 

3 
 

12. On sheet C0.1, note 11.1.2, shall be changed to read “compressive strength of 3,000 psi”.  This 
change will match what is called out in the details.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 

 
13. On sheet C0.1, HDPE (High Density Polyethylene) Pipe and Fittings section.  Town of Paonia 

code requires C900 PVC for waterlines and SDR 35 PVC for gravity sewer lines.  The Town will 
allow HDPE for the waterline, however the HDPE must be DIPS sizing to allow the use of ductile 
iron pipe fittings for future maintenance/repair.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED.  

 
14. On sheet C0.1, notes 2A.02.D and 2B.02.D, references electrofusion saddle/services taps. 

Electrofusion saddle/service tap will not be accepted. Town of Paonia requires the use of 
traditional double strap tapping saddles as specified in the current Town of Paonia specifications 
within the Municipal Code.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 

 
15. On sheet C0.1, notes 2A.03.C and 2B.03.C.  Details provided in the drawings make no reference 

to tracer wire.  Tracer wire is required on all new pipes per SUE regulations.  Town requires 
tracer wire to be No. 12 gauge solid copper.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED.  NOTE HAS BEEN ADDED TO DETAILS 
SPECIFYING TRACER WIRE. 

 
16. On sheet C0.2, consider deleting note 3 under the Sanitary Sewer Material Specification for Pipe 

and Fittings as the proposed sewer line is only 8-inch diameter.  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 
 

17. On sheet C0.2, consider deleting note 4 under the Sanitary Sewer Material Specification for Pipe 
and Fittings as there are not pressure sewer lines proposed for the project.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 
 

 

47

7.



 

   
 

 

4 
 

18. On sheet C0.2, note 2 under Sanitary Sewer Installation Specifications, references to subsections 
9-3-5 and 9-3-6 need to be updated and/or deleted.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 

 
19. On sheet C0.2, note 4 under Removals, Excavation, Backfilling and Restoration Specifications, 

reference to subsection 9-4-3 needs to be updated and/or deleted.  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 

 
20. On sheet C0.2, note 13 under Removals, Excavation, Backfilling and Restoration Specifications, 

reference to subsection 9-6 needs to be updated and/or deleted.  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 
 

21. On sheet C0.2, note 15.1 under Removals, Excavation, Backfilling and Restoration 
Specifications, reference to subsection 9-5-10 needs to be updated and/or deleted.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 
 

22. On sheet C0.2, suggest changing note 15.3.1 to every 100 linear feet of trench instead of every 
400 linear feet.  This will ensure the entire trench section will get tested versus large sections of 
the trench going untested using the 400 foot interval.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 
 

23. On sheet C0.2, delete note 15.3.2.  Quality assurance testing is in the Town best interests.  If 
testing is not complete the Town could accept a substandard product.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 

 
24. On sheet C0.2, note 15.3.3 under Removals, Excavation, Backfilling and Restoration 

Specifications, reference to subsection 9-3-7 needs to be updated and/or deleted.  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 
 
. 

48

7.



 

   
 

 

5 
 

 
25. On sheet C0.2, note 16 under Removals, Excavation, Backfilling and Restoration Specifications, 

reference to subsection 9-2-5 needs to be updated and/or deleted. 
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 

 
26. On sheet C0.2, note 4 under Final Inspection and Acceptance, change reference of Montrose 

Submittal Standards to Town of Paonia.  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 
 

27. General comment regarding notes and specific materials/manufacturers.  Plans need to 
reflect/match the Town approved specifications.  Refer to Appendix D, Standard Construction 
Specifications.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTING SPECS WITH TOWN HAVE BEEN REMOVED 
AND TOWN STANDARDS ARE REFERENCED. 
 

28. On sheet C2.0, lots 1 and 4 within the 100 flood zone designation AE.  Notes should be provided 
on the plans as necessary documenting the construction needs to be 1 foot above base flood 
elevations.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: NOTE ADDED TO SHEET C2.0, UNDER PROJECT LEGEND.    

 
29. On sheet C2.0, 10’ drainage easement on the western edge of Lot 1 appears small in width for 

future maintenance.  Unclear in the plans if there is a drainage ditch within this easement.  Also 
unclear if the easement should include maintenance/access descriptions.  Same situation applies 
between lots 5/6 and 13/15.  
 
 ODISEA RESPONSE: DRAINAGE EASEMENTS HAVE BEEN INCREASED TO 15’.   

 
30. On sheet C2.0, 10’ utility easement doesn’t seem large enough in width for future maintenance of 

waterline.  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: WATERLINE HAS BEEN MOVED WITHIN ROADWAY.    
 

31. On sheet C3.0, plan and profiles should be provided for all culverts.  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: INVERT ELEVATIONS, PIPE MATERIAL, AND LENGTH ARE 
CALLED OUT ON SHEET C3.0.  ALONG WITH SPOT ELEVATIONS, THIS LEVEL OF 
DETAIL ALONG WITH DETAIL 03/C8.3 IS SUFFICIENT. 

 

49

7.



 

   
 

 

6 
 

32. Riprap recommended and inlet/outlet of all culverts to help with erosion/sediment control.  
Details shall be provided  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: RIPRAP HAS BEEN ADDED TO ALL CULVERTS. 

 
33. On sheet C3.0, depth of road side ditches are undefined.  It appears ditch could have negative 

impact on shallow utilities and current waterline location.  Ditch appears to be approximately 5 
foot deep, but hard to tell with no finished contour labels or profiles of culverts.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: SPOT ELEVATIONS HAVE BEEN ADDED TO DITCHES.  

 
34. No construction details are provided for the detention basins.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: SEE SHEET C8.3 FOR DETENTION BASIN DETAILS.  

 
35. Do drainage easements around detention basins need to also be access easements for future 

maintenance?  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: EASEMENT HAVE BEEN ADDED FOR THE DETENTION BASIN 
II, BASIN I IS WITHIN A PROPOSED 20’ IRRIGATION-UTILITY EASEMENT.   

 
36. It appears from the current design all driveways will require culverts.  These culverts would all be 

within the Town’s right of way.  Covenants need to reflect that the homeowner is responsible for 
installing and maintaining driveway culverts.    

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: HOA WILL ADOPT A RESOLUTION OR COVENANTS WILL BE 
AMENDED TO REFLECT HOMEOWNER RESPONSIBILITY FOR INSTALLING AND 
MAINTAINING DRIVEWAYS.  

 
37. Who is maintaining ditches throughout the subdivision?  Covenants need to reflect the 

subdivision/HOA is responsible for maintaining the ditches within the subdivision.  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: FELDMAN DITCH MAINTAINED BY FELDMAN, HOA DITCH 
MAINTAINED BY HOA WHICH IS IN THE CONVENANTS. 

 
38. On sheet C4.0, what happens to the drainage at low point of road at station 2+72.45?  Currently, 

drainage will sheet flow off the road at this location with consideration to erosion control.  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: ROADSIDE DITCHES HAVE BEEN ADDED. 
 
 

 

50

7.



 

   
 

 

7 
 

39. No details provided for connecting Atlantic Avenue to Price Road.  SGM assumes that saw 
cutting of at least 1 foot into Price Road for connection.  Drawings should include spot elevations, 
stationing, curve data, etc. 

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: SAW CUT AND MILLING DETAIL HAS BEEN ADDED, SEE 
DETAIL 04/C8.0  
 

40. SGM recommends curbs, gutter, and sidewalks per Municipal Code section 17-4-40 (l).  
 
ODISEA RESPONSE: DEVELOPER SEEKING VARIANCE FROM TOWN OF PAONIA.  

 
41. It appears Atlantic Avenue is a dead end street.  Municipal Code Section 17-4-40 (g) requires no 

more than 500 feet from connecting street (Price Road).  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: DEVELOPER SEEKING VARIANCE FROM TOWN OF PAONIA 
FOR EXCEEDING MAXIMUM DEAD LENGTH, ADDING 50’ RADIUS CUL-DE-SAC TO 
DESIGN 

 
42. SGM recommends cul-de-sac at the end of Atlantic Avenue versus emergency turnaround per 

Municipal Code Section 17-4-40 (g).  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: CUL-DE-SAC ADDED TO DESIGN 
 

43. If emergency turnarounds are utilized, Developer shall provide information from Fire Department 
and other emergency services that emergency turnaround are of acceptable size.  
 
ODISEA RESPONSE: NEED COORDINATION AND LOCAL FIRE DEPARTMENT 
APPROVAL.  

 
44. No details for provided for construction of emergency turnarounds.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: EMERGENCY TURNAROUND TO BE CONSTRUCTED PER ROAD 
SECTION DETAIL 01/C8.0, RADIUS DIMENSIONS ADDED TO PLANS.  

 
45. Appears potential driveway for Lot 16 would be obstructed by emergency turnaround.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CUL-DE-SAC HAS BEEN ADDED.  

 
46. Road grade shown on profile between station 14+10.11 and station 15+41.52 is 0.39%. Minimum 

per Municipal Code section 17-4-40 (h) is 0.5%.  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: ROAD GRADE ADJUSTED AND CUL-DE-SAC ADDED.   
 

51

7.



 

   
 

 

8 
 

47. On all sheets, but noted here on sheet C2.0, existing waterline and existing manhole at station 
2+31 appear to be in conflict.  Developer should verify location of existing utilities prior to tying 
in new infrastructure.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CALLOUT HAS BEEN ADDED TO SHEET C2.0 TO VERIFY 
LOCATION OF UTILITIES BEFORE INSTALLATION OF NEW INFRASTRUCTURE  

 
48. On sheet C5.0, it is recommended that sanitary sewer should be installed on one side of Atlantic 

Avenue and potable water should be installed on the other side with a minimum of 10 foot 
horizontal separation.  This recommendation will result in additional manholes to navigate 
thecurves in the road.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: SANITARY SEWER AND WATER LINE LAYOUT UPDATED PER 
REVIEW RECOMMENDATIONS. 

 
49. Water service note in profile of sanitary sewer at station 2+50 is misleading about 5 foot 

minimum cover as the current details in proposed plan show 4 foot of cover over proposed 
waterline.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: UPDATED PER REVIEW COMMENT. 

 
50. Details need to be provided for connecting to existing manhole at station 2+30.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: SEE DETAIL 03/C8.2.   

 
51. Discrepancy between general sewer notes on sheet C0.2 and pipe callouts in profile on sheet 

C5.0.  Sheet C0.2 calls out pipe to conform to ASTM 3034, SDR35.  Sheet C5.0 calls out SDR 26 
HDPE.  Town code requires sanitary sewer pipe be 8-inch SDR 35.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: UPDATED PER REVEW COMMENT, SDR 26 HDPE HAS BEEN 
REMOVED   

 
52. On sheet C6.0, waterline needs be installed with the pavement section of Atlantic Avenue.  

Waterline should not be installed outside of the pavement and underneath underground telephone 
and fiber optic lines.    

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: WATERLINE RELOCATED TO UNDER ROADWAY.   

 
53. SGM recommends provided a profile of the waterline to be able to identify any potential piping 

conflicts with other utilities.  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: WATERLINE RELOCATED TO UNDER ROADWAY. 
 

52

7.



 

   
 

 

9 
 

54. Details need to be provided for connecting to existing waterline near station 0+00 of waterline.  
Why is the waterline stationing different than the road/sanitary sewer stationing? 

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: ANNOTATION ON SHEET C6.0 STATES CONNECTION TO 
EXISTING WATER LINE IN ACCORDANCE WITH TOWN CODE AND PUBLIC WORKS 
DIRECTOR.  WATERLINE STATIONING NOW REFERENCES ROADWAY STATIONING.   

 
55. Town of Paonia prefers installing additional hydrant at the end of Atlantic Avenue in lieu of 

current proposed blow-off.  Blow off detail can be deleted.  This additional hydrant will also help 
with unidirectional flushing of the waterlines.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: UPDATED PER REVIEW COMMENT.    

 
56. Sheet C6.0 doesn’t show any utilities besides the waterline.  As shown it would appear there are 

no conflicts with the waterline, however previous comments indicate waterline should be 
installed underneath telephone and fiber optic lines.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: CONFLICTS SHOWN ON SHEET C7.0, WATERLINE HAS BEEN 
MOVED WITHIN ROADWAY 

 
57. On sheet C7.0, telephone pedestals, electric transformers, etc are not shown.  Conflicts are not 

known at this time.  Locations should be provided and coordinated with other utilities in final 
drawings.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: TELEPHONE PEDESTALS, ELECTRICAL TRANSFORMERS 
HAVE BEEN ADDED,  LOCATIONS NEED TO BE VERIFIED WITH UTILITY 
COMPANIES.   

 
58. On sheet C7.0, there appears to be a conflict between the water and sewer services for Lot 4 

within the easement.  Sewer service shall include cleanout at all bends.  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: REVISED  
 

59. Detail 2/C8.0 needs to reflect the 5 foot cover for waterlines.  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: UPATED PER REVIEW COMMENT.    
 

60. Details 1&2/C8.0, similar to previous comments, it appears roadside ditches could negatively 
impact road platform and other utilities.  
 
ODISEA RESPONSE: UTILITIES REMOVED FROM DITCH AREA OTHER THAN 
UTILITY CROSSINGS UNDER DITCHES.   

 
 

53

7.



 

   
 

 

10 
 

61. Detail 3/C8.0 needs to reflect the 5 foot cover for waterlines.  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: REVISED    
 

62. Detail 5/C8.0 needs to reflect the 5 foot cover for waterlines.  Restraining glands are not 
acceptable, megalugs are required.  Note 1 needs to reflect the Town’s approved manufacturer for 
the fire hydrant, refer to Appendix D Standard Construction Specifications of the Municipal code.  
Note 2 shall change to pipe to PVC.  Note 4, bolts to be suitable for MJ fittings.  Bolts shall be 
Cor-Ten or stainless steel.  Hot dipped galvanized bolts are not acceptable.  Note 4 and 6, 
reference to rods should be deleted.  MJ fittings with thrust blocks should be adequate.  

 
 ODISEA RESPONSE: REVISED, THIS IS NOW DETAIL 06/C8.0. 

 
63. Consider deleting detail 6/C8.0, two fire hydrant details are not needed.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: DELETED 

 
64. Detail 1/C8.1.  Why is this detail provided?  There is no reference/indication in the drawings 

where tap sleeve is being utilized.  If not using detail should be deleted.  
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: DELETED  
 

65. Detail 4/C8.1 needs reflect the 5 foot cover for waterlines and services.  End of water service stub 
out should be marked with a blue painted 2x4 per the Municipal Code.  Meter shall be Badger 
Meter Recordall Disc Meter with Recordall Transmitter Register and Orion Water Endpoint for 
mobile meter reading.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: REVISED, THIS IS NOW DETAIL 03/C8.1.  

 
66. All details with equipment callouts should be cross referenced with Appendix D Standard 

Construction Specifications of the Municipal Code.  There are many instances that need to 
updated.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: UPDATED PER REVIEW COMMENT.    

 
67. On detail 1/C8.3, end of sewer service stub out should be mark with a green painted 2x4 per the 

Municipal Code. 
 

ODISEA RESPONSE: UPDATED PER REVIEW COMMENT.  SEE DETAIL 05/C8.2. 
 

68. Detail 2/C8.3 should be deleted as all sewer services proposed for this project will be new, 
therefore requiring a full body wye per the Municipal Code.  

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: UPDATED PER REVIEW COMMENT.   

54

7.



 

   
 

 

11 
 

69. Additional notes/specifications shall be added to sheets C0.1 and/or C0.2 for pipeline acceptance 
testing for both sanitary sewer and waterlines.  Sanitary sewer lines shall be televised.  Sanitary 
sewer lines shall also be tested using a low-pressure air test.  Sanitary sewer manholes shall also 
be tested for leakage.  Waterlines shall be hydrostatically tested and disinfected.  Refer to 
Appendix D Standard Construction Specifications of the Municipal Code for specific 
requirements. 

 
ODISEA RESPONSE: NOTES HAVE BEEN REVISED TO INCLUDE TESTING METHODS 
IN ACCORDANACE WITH TOWN OF PAONIA MUNICIPAL CODE.   

 
Please call with any question or further clarification regarding responses to engineering review comments. 
 
Very Respectfully, 
 

 
 
Jeff Ruppert, P.E.  
Principal 
 
(970) 527-9540 
jeff@odiseanet.com  
 
 
 
 

55

7.



56

8.



... 

Ill►Engineering 
I Group, Ine . 

GEOTECHNICAL INVESTIGATION 
SUBGRADE INVESTIGATION AND PAVEMENT DESIGN 

Backhouse Subdivision 
Residential Buildings and Pavement 

Paonia, Colorado 

Prepared For: 

Mr.RusselBackhouse 
23 Alder Court 

Paonia, Colorado 81416 

Job No. 2,287 

April 24, 2006 
Revised: July 20, 2006 

Geotechnical, Environmental and Materials Testing Consultants 
Grand Junction - Montrose - Moab - Crested Butte 

(970) 245-4078 • fax (970) 245-7115 • geotechnicalgroup.com
2308 Interstate Avenue, Grand Junction, Colorado 81505

ITEM #1

57

9.

TownClerk
Highlight



58

9.



59

9.



60

9.



61

9.



62

9.



63

9.



64

9.



65

9.



66

9.



67

9.



68

9.



69

9.



70

9.



71

9.



72

9.



73

9.



74

9.



75

9.



76

9.



77

9.



78

9.



79

9.



80

9.



81

9.



82

9.



83

9.



84

9.



85

9.



86

9.



87

9.



88

9.



89

9.



90

9.



91

9.



92

9.



93

9.



94

9.



95

9.



96

9.



97

9.



98

9.



99

9.



100

9.



101

9.



102

9.



103

9.



104

9.



105

9.



106

9.



107

9.



108

9.



109

9.



110

9.



111

9.



112

9.



113

9.



114

9.



115

9.



116

9.



117

9.



118

9.



119

9.



120

9.



121

9.



122

9.



123

9.



124

9.



125

9.



126

9.



127

9.



128

9.



129

9.



130

9.



131

9.



132

9.



"phase 2"

ITEM 2

133

10.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SALONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REC. #657921

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL DISTRICT #50

AutoCAD SHX Text
BK461, PG1002

AutoCAD SHX Text
COOPER

AutoCAD SHX Text
REC. #578928

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAYTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REC. #592416

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEWIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
BK440, PG1780

AutoCAD SHX Text
DELTA COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
REC. #631996

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATTERSON

AutoCAD SHX Text
BK788, PG826

AutoCAD SHX Text
DELTA COUNTY JOINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINDHORST

AutoCAD SHX Text
BK454, PG968

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARNOLD

AutoCAD SHX Text
REC. #564623

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRETON

AutoCAD SHX Text
REC. #630305

AutoCAD SHX Text
DELTA COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
REC. #631997

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWN OF PAONIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
BK876, PG24

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER WELL &

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNDERGROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORAGE TANK

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT PER

AutoCAD SHX Text
REC. #592672

AutoCAD SHX Text
& HOPS, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
REC. #657769

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 33%%d01'05" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
40.96'

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST ELK LAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROXIMATE CENTERLINE OF THE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH FORK OF THE GUNNISON

AutoCAD SHX Text
882763.3 SQ. FT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.266 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL ACREAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
10.10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
CCE MINOR SUB.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
CCE MINOR SUB.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
CCE MINOR SUB.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DITCH & POND  EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
42' R.O.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROXIMATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH FORK OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUNNISON RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROXIMATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH FORK OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUNNISON RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FIRE-HYDRANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING MH-6 @ 5619'

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONSTRUCT MH-7 @ 5621.3' (rise 0.6%)

AutoCAD SHX Text
+5626'

AutoCAD SHX Text
lot 2 61267 ft2 1.41 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
lot 3 HOA owned "grazeland" 81435 ft2 1.87 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
lot 1 71325 ft2 1.64 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
lot 4 42387 ft2 0.97 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
lot 5 44369 ft2 1.02 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 33%%d01'05" E  93.01'

AutoCAD SHX Text
lot 7 34461 ft2 0.79 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
42' RIGHT OF WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
lot 6 41626 ft2 0.96 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY EASEMENT for town to loop waterline

AutoCAD SHX Text
"evergreen buffer" EASEMENT 7146 ft2 0.16 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
"evergreen buffer" EASEMENT 4878 ft2 0.11 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' EASEMENT for Feldman & HOA DITCHES

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' UTILITY EASEMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' UTILITY & IRRIGATION EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' EASEMENT HOA DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' UTILITY & IRRIGATION EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SHARED DRIVEWAY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMERGENCY VEHICLE TURNAROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
42' RIGHT OF WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
lot 8 46784 ft2 1.07 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
lot 9 52431 ft2 1.20 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
lot 10 49648 ft2 1.14 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
lot 11 48844 ft2 1.12 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
lot 12 48875 ft2 1.12 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
lot 13 45775 ft2 1.05 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
lot 14 44840 ft2 1.03 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
lot 15 41776 ft2 0.96 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
lot 16 61900 ft2 1.42 acre

AutoCAD SHX Text
+5627'

AutoCAD SHX Text
+5631'

AutoCAD SHX Text
+5627'

AutoCAD SHX Text
+5636'

AutoCAD SHX Text
+5636'

AutoCAD SHX Text
+5635'

AutoCAD SHX Text
+5632'

AutoCAD SHX Text
+5635'

AutoCAD SHX Text
+5633'

AutoCAD SHX Text
+5635'

AutoCAD SHX Text
+5635'

AutoCAD SHX Text
+5636'

AutoCAD SHX Text
+5638'

AutoCAD SHX Text
+5639'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMERGENCY VEHICLE TURNAROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
Price road

AutoCAD SHX Text
8' TRAIL EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOA DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FELDMAN DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FELDMAN DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
6' RESERVED FOR SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
8' BRIDGE EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
150

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
scale

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Paonia Riverbank Neighborhood low density: phase 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
June 6, 2020

TownClerk
Highlight



318731307003 200 ft Parcel Buffer
TaxPIN Owner Name

324506210002 RUBY MOUNTAIN 

PARTNERS INC (1/2 

INT)

324506200009 SMITH CHARLES 

BARRY

324506211002 CHOI REGAN E

324506200007 PAYTE LINDA

318731400008 PAONIA TOWN OF

318731400010 DEPT OF HWYS STATE 

OF COLO

324506209010 LAGNIAPPE 

PROPERTIES WEST 

LLC

324506208007 AG GLOGAL COOLING 

LLC

324506201006 PAONIA TOWN OF

318731300047 GARVER RICHARD D

324506204001 SMITH CHARLES 

BARRY

318731300070 ZIMMERMAN 

MARTIN TIGHE

324506200006 LEWIS ROBERT B

324506202002 KIRSTATTER ARNOLD 

J

324506201005 ARNOLD MICHAEL P

324506109004 WINDHORST CAROL 

M

324506174003 COOPER MARK

324506204004 MOORE MURRILL 

FAMILY TRUST

318731303002 WEST ELK LAND & 

HOPS LLC

324506200023 CUMPSTON 

MICHELLE

324506211001 BRETON PEARL M

324506200010 PATTERSON 

CHRISTINA M

324506210001 HINYARD PATRICK W

324506210003 BURGE STEVE

318731400007 DELTA COUNTY JOINT 

SCHOOL DIST 50

318731300048 SALONE DAPHNE A

324506203004 CHISHOLM DANIEL E

318731307003 OLD WORLD LLC

Page 1 of 2

ITEM 3

134

10.

TownClerk
Highlight



TaxPIN Owner_Name

318731307001 OLD WORLD LLC

318731307002 OLD WORLD LLC

135

10.



Page 2 of 2

136

10.



137

10.



138

10.



139

10.



140

10.



ITEM 5

141

10.

TownClerk
Highlight



142

10.



143

10.



144

10.



145

10.



146

10.



147

10.



148

10.



149

10.



150

10.



151

10.



152

10.



153

10.



154

10.



155

10.



156

10.



157

10.



158

10.



159

10.



160

10.



161

10.



162

10.



163

10.



164

10.



165

10.



166

10.



167

10.



168

10.



DEVELOPMENT REVIEW LIST: 

Black Hills Energy 

Delta Montrose Electric Company 

DMEA – Elevate 

TDS Telecom 

Spectrum 

Adjacent Ditch Companies 

Delta County 

Delta County School District 50 

ITEM 6

169

10.

TownClerk
Highlight



170

10.



ITEM 7

171

10.

TownClerk
Highlight



172

10.



173

10.



174

10.



175

10.



176

10.



177

10.



178

10.



179

10.



180

10.



181

10.



182

10.



183

10.



RAW

KC

KC
W
PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYING, INC.

CILMORE OMPANY

406 Grand Avenue
P.O. Box 1652
Paonia, Colorado  81428

970.527-4200
970.527-4202
www.wilmorelandsurveying.com

PHONE

FAX

EMAIL kris@wilmorelandsurveying.com
SHEET 1 OF 2J20157 26 AUGUST 2020

ITEM 8

184

11.

TownClerk
Highlight



SHEET 2 OF 226 AUGUST 2020J20157
RAW

KC

KC

EMAIL kris@wilmorelandsurveying.com

FAX

PHONE

www.wilmorelandsurveying.com
970.527-4202
970.527-4200

Paonia, Colorado  81428
P.O. Box 1652
406 Grand Avenue

OMPANYILMORE C
PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYING, INC.
W

185

11.



186

11.

TownClerk
Highlight



187

11.



188

11.



189

11.



190

11.



191

11.



192

11.



193

11.



194

11.



195

11.



196

11.



197

11.



198

11.



ITEM 10

199

11.

TownClerk
Highlight



200

11.



201

11.



202

11.



203

11.



204

11.



205

11.



206

11.



207

11.



208

11.



209

11.



210

11.



211

11.



ITEM 11

212

11.

TownClerk
Highlight



213

11.



214

11.



215

11.



216

11.



217

11.



218

11.



219

11.



220

11.



221

11.



222

11.



223

11.



224

11.



225

11.



226

11.



227

11.



228

11.



229

11.



230

11.



231

11.



232

11.



233

11.



234

11.



235

11.



236

11.



237

11.



238

11.



239

11.



240

11.



241

11.



242

11.



243

11.



244

11.



245

11.



ITEM 12

246

11.

TownClerk
Highlight



TRANSPORTATION 
CONSULTANTS, INC. 

July 26, 2019 

Mr. Ivo Renkema 
Old World, LLC 
ivo@openbook.pub 

Dear Mr. Renkema: 

LSC TRANSPORTATION CONSULTANTS, INC. 

1889 York Street 
Denver, CO 80206 

(303) 333-1105
FAX (303) 333-1107 

E-mail: lsc@lscdenve1·.co111

Re: Riverbank 
Traffic Impact Analysis 
Paonia, CO 
LSC #190540 

In response to your request, LSC Transportation Consultants, Inc. has prepared this traffic 
impact analysis for the proposed Riverbank development. As shown on Figure 1, the site is lo
cated southeast of State Highway (SH) 133 and north of Samuel Wade Road in Paonia, Colo
rado. 

REPORT CONTENTS 

The report contains the following: the existing roadway and traffic conditions in the vicinity of 
the site including the lane geometries, traffic controls, etc.; the existing weekday peak-hour 
traffic volumes; the existing daily traffic volumes in the area; the typical weekday site-generated 
traffic volume projections for the site; the short-term and long-term assignment of the projected 
traffic volumes to the area roadways; the projected short-term and long-term background and 
resulting total traffic volumes on the area roadways; the site's projected traffic impacts; and any 
recommended roadway improvements to mitigate the site's traffic impacts. 

LAND USE AND ACCESS 

The site is proposed to include 46 single-family detached homes and 11 townhomes. Access is 
proposed from a full movement access location on Price Road as shown in the conceptual site 
plan in Figure 2. 

ROADWAY AND TRAFFIC CONDITIONS 

Area Roadways 

The major roadways in the site's vicinity are shown on Figure 1 and are described below. 

State Highway (SH) 133 is an east-west, two-lane state highway northwest of the site. It 
is designated R-A (Regional Highway) by CDOT. The intersections with Clock Road/Fire 
Mountain Road and Samuel Wade Road are stop-sign controlled. The posted speed limit 
in the vicinity of the site is 45 mph. 

ITEM 13

247

11.

TownClerk
Highlight



248

11.



249

11.



250

11.



251

11.



252

11.



253

11.



254

11.



255

11.



256

11.



257

11.



258

11.



259

11.



260

11.



261

11.



262

11.



263

11.



264

11.



265

11.



266

11.



267

11.



268

11.



269

11.



270

11.



271

11.



272

11.



273

11.



274

11.



275

11.



276

11.



277

11.



278

11.



279

11.



280

11.



281

11.



282

11.



283

11.



284

11.



285

11.



286

11.



287

11.



288

11.



289

11.



290

11.



291

11.



292

11.



293

11.



294

11.



295

11.



296

11.



297

11.



298

11.



299

11.



300

11.



301

11.



302

11.



303

11.



304

11.



305

11.



306

11.



307

11.



308

11.



309

11.



310

11.



311

11.



312

11.



313

11.



314

11.



315

11.



316

11.



317

11.



318

11.



319

11.



320

11.



321

11.



322

11.



323

11.



324

11.



325

11.



326

11.



327

11.



328

11.



329

11.



330

11.



331

11.



332

11.



333

11.



334

11.



335

11.



336

11.



337

11.



338

11.



339

11.



340

11.



341

11.



342

11.



ITEM 14

343

11.

TownClerk
Highlight



344

11.



345

11.



346

11.



347

11.



348

11.



349

11.


	Top
	1.	Regular Minutes
	ASF - Minutes
	062220_PlanningMin_Draft

	2.	1_Admin Report and Attachments
	ASF - Riverbank
	1_Admin Report and Attachments

	3.	2_Applicant FINAL_ Submittal Document
	2_Applicant FINAL_ Submittal Document

	4.	3_Applicant Final Submittal_Summary of Administrator Comments
	3_Applicant Final Submittal_Summary of Administrator Comments

	5.	4_Attorney Letter_r.e.SGM Review
	4_Attorney Letter_r.e.SGM Review

	6.	5_RiverbankSubdivisionEngReview
	5_RiverbankSubdivisionEngReview

	7.	6_Riverbank Neighborhood_Responses To SGM Review
	6_Riverbank Neighborhood_Responses To SGM Review

	8.	7_Community Input #1
	7_Community Input #1

	9.	Item 1 - Geotechnical Report
	Item 1 - Geotechnical Soils Report_1of3
	Item 1 - Geotechnical Soils Report_2of3
	Item 1 - Geotechnical Soils Report_3of3

	10.	Items 2 through 7
	Item 2 - Sketch Plan
	Item 3 - Property Owner List
	Item 4 - Application
	Item 5 - Covenants for Neighborhood
	Item 6 - Development Review (Referral Letters From Companies)
	Item 6 - Development Review (VFD Response)
	Item 7 - Engineering

	11.	Items 8 Through 14
	Item 8 - Prelim Plan_1of2
	Item 8 - Prelim Plan_2of2
	Item 8 - Final Plat
	Item 9 - Subdivision Improvements Agreement
	Item 10 - Title Commitment
	Item 11 - Drainage Report
	Item 12 - Engineering Costs
	Item 13 - Traffic Impact
	Item 14 - Proof of Ownership

	Bottom

